### **UCSF**

### **WHO Tobacco Control Papers**

### Title

Legislating for smoke-free workplaces

### **Permalink**

https://escholarship.org/uc/item/6f09v1c6

### **Author**

World Health Organization

### **Publication Date**

2006-07-04

EUR/06/5073161 4 July 2006 E88864 ORIGINAL: ENGLISH



# Legislating for smoke-free workplaces

World Health Organization Regional Office for Europe

Scherfigsvej 8 DK-2100 Copenhagen Ø Denmark

Telephone: +45 39 17 17 17 Telefax: +45 39 17 18 18 Telex: 12000 who dk

Electronic mail: postmaster@who.dk World Wide Web adress: http://www.euro.who.int

**EUROPEAN TOBACCO CONTROL POLICY SERIES** 

No. 3



# Legislating for smoke-free workplaces

### **ABSTRACT**

This document aims to provide guidelines and support to the Member States of the WHO European Region in strengthening protection from exposure to tobacco smoke at the workplace. It is the third publication in the series of policy documents following the adoption of the European Strategy for Tobacco Control.

Its overall objective is to provide national policy-makers, health system administrators, professionals and nongovernmental organizations with easily accessible arguments and with a review of legislative tools and options in support of smoke-free workplaces, including the hospitality sector. The document also aims to provide a cross-country analysis of legislation that, in itself, is expected to help raise awareness and motivation for stronger policies and actions.

### **Keywords**

TOBACCO SMOKE POLLUTION
OCCUPATIONAL EXPOSURE
WORKPLACE
SMOKING – prevention and control
SMOKING – legislation
PUBLIC POLICY
FINLAND
EUROPE

Address requests about publications of the WHO Regional Office for Europe to:

Publications
WHO Regional Office for Europe
Scherfigsvej 8
DK-2100 Copenhagen Ø, Denmark

Alternatively, complete an online request form for documentation, health information, or for permission to quote or translate, on the WHO/Europe web site at http://www.euro.who.int/pubrequest.

### © World Health Organization 2006

All rights reserved. The Regional Office for Europe of the World Health Organization welcomes requests for permission to reproduce or translate its publications, in part or in full.

The designations employed and the presentation of the material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of the World Health Organization concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries. Where the designation "country or area" appears in the headings of tables, it covers countries, territories, cities, or areas. Dotted lines on maps represent approximate border lines for which there may not yet be full agreement.

The mention of specific companies or of certain manufacturers' products does not imply that they are endorsed or recommended by the World Health Organization in preference to others of a similar nature that are not mentioned. Errors and omissions excepted, the names of proprietary products are distinguished by initial capital letters.

The World Health Organization does not warrant that the information contained in this publication is complete and correct and shall not be liable for any damages incurred as a result of its use. The views expressed by authors or editors do not necessarily represent the decisions or the stated policy of the World Health Organization.

### **CONTENTS**

	Page
Executive summary	1
1. Introduction	3
2. Background and rationale	5
2.1. Rationale for protection from exposure to tobacco smoke	
2.2. Composition of ETS	
2.3. The cost of smoking at work	
International legislation      3.1. The WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control	
3.2. Legislation in the EU	
3.3. International Labour Organization (ILO)	
4. National legislation	22
4.1. Recent developments	29
5. Effectiveness of different regulatory measures	34
5.1. Different approaches to regulating exposure to tobacco sm and their effectiveness	
5.2. Effectiveness of legislation	
6. Litigation	37
7. Exposure to ETS at work – Finland as a case study	38
7.1. ETS and tobacco legislation in Finland	38
7.2. Exposure to ETS after the Tobacco Act	
7.3. KymCAREX: an information system for exposure assessme	
7.4. Control of ETS exposure	
8. Conclusions	
9. References	45

### **Executive summary**

This document aims to provide guidelines and support to the Member States of the WHO European Region in strengthening protection from exposure to tobacco smoke at the workplace. It is one of the main components of a comprehensive tobacco control policy that contributes to reducing average tobacco consumption, as stated by the European Strategy for Tobacco Control. The WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control obligates the Parties to the Convention to provide protection from exposure to tobacco smoke in indoor workplaces, public transport, indoor public places, and other public places as appropriate.

This document aims to provide guidelines and support to the Member States of the WHO European Region in strengthening protection from exposure to tobacco smoke at the workplace. It is the third publication in the series of policy documents following the adoption of the European Strategy for Tobacco Control. Its overall objective is to provide national policy-makers, health system administrators, professionals and nongovernmental organizations with easily accessible arguments and with a review of legislative tools and options in support of smoke-free workplaces, including the hospitality sector. The document also aims to provide a cross-country analysis of legislation that, in itself, is expected to help raise awareness and motivation for stronger policies and actions.

Though the major focus of the paper is legislating for smoke-free workplaces, it also briefly covers some related issues such as the health effects of passive smoking, the cost of smoking at work, the impact of banning smoking on business in the hospitality sector, and lessons learnt from different countries. Finally, the experience of Finland, a country with one of the longest traditions in this area, is presented as a case study.

It is recognized that the definition of what is meant by a "ban on smoking" varies. In this document, a complete ban provides effective protection from ETS by imposing a total ban on smoking while a ban establishes physically separated areas for smoking.

This document takes into consideration existing knowledge and the latest developments in the field. The first draft of this document was developed by the Finnish Institute of Occupational Health and the WHO Regional Office for Europe. A group of experts was then requested to review the draft, and a second draft was distributed to the network of WHO European national counterparts for their comments.

### 1. Introduction

This document aims to provide guidelines and support to the Member States of the WHO European Region in strengthening protection from exposure to tobacco smoke at the workplace. Protection from exposure to tobacco smoke is one of the main components of a comprehensive tobacco control policy that contributes to reducing average tobacco consumption, as stated by the European Strategy for Tobacco Control (1). The WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control obliges the Parties to the Convention to provide protection from exposure to tobacco smoke in indoor workplaces, public transport, indoor public places, and other public places as appropriate (2).

This document was prepared as part of a series of policy documents envisaged by the European Strategy, and at the request of the European network of national counterparts for the Strategy. Its overall objective is to provide national policy-makers, health system administrators, professionals and nongovernmental organizations with easily accessible arguments and with a review of legislative tools and options in support of smoke-free workplaces, including the hospitality sector. The document also aims to provide a cross-country analysis of legislation that itself is expected to help raise awareness and motivation for stronger policies and actions.

Though the major focus of the paper is legislating for smoke-free workplaces, it also briefly covers some related issues such as the health effects of passive smoking, the cost of smoking at work, the impact of banning smoking on business in the hospitality sector, and lessons learnt from different countries. Finally, the experience of Finland, a country with one of the longest traditions in this area, is presented as a case study.

It is recognized that the definition of what is meant by a "ban on smoking" varies. In this document, a complete ban provides effective protection from ETS by imposing a total ban on smoking while a ban establishes physically separated areas for smoking.

This document takes into consideration existing knowledge and the latest developments in the field:

- the provisions of the WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control (2);
- the recommendations of the European Strategy for Tobacco Control (1);
- Why smoking in the workplaces matters: an employer's guide (3);
- *Tobacco in the workplace: meeting the challenges (4);*
- The workplace a key setting for reducing the smoking epidemic (5);
- Report on the health effects of environmental tobacco smoke (ETS) in the workplace (6);
- Draft ILO guidelines on tobacco smoke in the workplace (7);
- Working paper: a review of national and local practical and regulatory measures (8);
- *Smoke-free policies (9)*;
- Towards smoke-free public places (10);
- Tobacco at work (11); and
- *Tobacco or health in the European Union (12).*

The first draft of this document was developed by the Finnish Institute of Occupational Health and the WHO Regional Office for Europe. A group of experts was then requested to review the draft, and a second draft was distributed to the network of WHO European national counterparts for their comments.<sup>1</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The following people contributed to the preparation of this document: Kari Reijula, Antero Heloma, Kirsti Husgafvel-Pursiainen, Markku Hyvärinen, Kari Korhonen and Antti Zitting (Finnish Institute of Occupational Health, Helsinki); Olli Simonen (Ministry of Social Affairs and Health, Helsinki); and Kristina Mauer-Stender (WHO Regional Office for Europe).

### 2. Background and rationale

# 2.1. Rationale for protection from exposure to tobacco smoke

The Framework Convention on Tobacco Control recognizes that "scientific evidence has unequivocally established that exposure to tobacco smoke causes death, disease and disability" (2). According to the Occupational Safety and Health Convention of the International Labour Organization (13), every person should have the right to a safe and healthy working environment.

In the first half of twentieth century, smoking was banned at places of work only for reasons of safety and security, mainly to prevent fire and explosions. Later, from the 1950s to the 1980s, bans on smoking at work were introduced to protect the health of the most vulnerable groups. In those years, smoking bans were expanded mostly to the educational and health care sectors. Since then, various studies have shown that the population exposed to tobacco smoke at work was large enough to justify full protection and the passing of legislation banning smoking at all workplaces. An important question therefore remains: why leave some sections of the working population without any protection from tobacco smoke at work?

The increasing evidence on the impact on health of exposure to tobacco smoke demands greater protection of non-smokers as well as smokers. There is no safe level of exposure to environmental tobacco smoke (ETS). Thus, increased protection would lead to a change in the perception of smoking and in behaviour vis-à-vis smoking, along with a decrease in the prevalence of smoking itself.

According to the results of a recent study published in the *British Medical Journal*, exposure to tobacco smoke at work is likely to be responsible for the deaths of more than two employed people each working day (14). This means some 617 deaths per year, 54 of them in the hospitality sector. The study concludes that exposure at work may contribute up to one fifth of all deaths from tobacco smoke in the general population aged 20–64 years, and up to half of such deaths among employees in the hospitality industry. Adoption of smoke-free policies in all workplaces and reductions in the general prevalence of

active smoking would lead to a substantial decrease in these avoidable deaths.

Thus, the workplace is a highly appropriate setting to combat environmental tobacco smoke. A large part of the world's population spends most of its time at work, and cannot avoid being there. Prohibition of smoking at workplaces has been shown to lead to lower levels of smoking by individuals and an increase in rates of quitting tobacco use (15). Therefore, a comprehensive smoke-free policy at the workplace can have a strong and positive influence on the behaviour of smoking workers, since they are less exposed to environmental tobacco smoke at work, their attempts to quit smoking will be supported, and the general perception of smoking is changing. Worksite cessation programmes are proving to be effective in reducing smoking prevalence among employees. A meta-analysis of 20 studies of worksite smoking cessation programmes found an average quitting rate after 12 months of 13% – much higher than the national average among all smokers of 2.5% (16). At the same time, non-smoking workers are provided with better protection from exposure to tobacco smoke.

A number of important developments aimed at increasing protection from exposure to tobacco smoke for health reasons have taken place over the last several years. The WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control gave a global boost to the movement towards making the non-smoking society the norm. In some countries of the WHO European Region this positive trend has resulted in smoking being banned in all workplaces, including the hospitality sector. Some other countries seem to be following this pioneering trend, and there are signs of increasingly active public debate and support in others.

Some recent opinion polls show that equal numbers of smokers and non-smokers are increasingly supporting a ban on smoking in public places. In Ireland, a survey carried out for the first anniversary of the introduction of the smoke-free workplace legislation shows that public support for the ban has grown steadily (17). According to this survey, 67% of the public supported the introduction of a smoking ban in 2003, whereas just a year later 82% were in favour. In March 2005, as many as 93% of people thought that the introduction of the law was a good idea, including 80% of smokers.

A recent BBC survey (18) revealed that 78% of 34 446 people polled in London would like a ban on smoking in all public places. In Sweden, one month before the introduction of the smoking ban in the hospitality sector in June 2005, 85% of the population was in favour of such a ban.<sup>2</sup> The trend is also apparent in eastern Europe: according to a Canadian survey carried out in 2001 to assess public support for international efforts to control tobacco use, 90% of Russians supported restrictions on where people can smoke and only 7% were opposed (19). Overall, increasing political awareness, the new international legal framework, and the recent developments in some countries along with large public support in many others create the demand and momentum for strengthening smoke-free policies in Europe. The role of the Regional Office is to support Member States in this process. This document thus addresses the need by providing a comparative review and options for legislation, the most powerful tool in advancing smoke-free workplace policies in the Region.

### 2.2. Composition of ETS

ETS, sidestream smoke and mainstream smoke are complex mixtures of over 4000 identified compounds, and approximately 400 compounds have been measured quantitatively in both mainstream and sidestream smoke. It has been estimated that the total number of constituents in smoke may actually be 10–20 times the number of those identified, meaning that tobacco smoke may contain over 100 000 constituents.

More than 50 known or suspected human carcinogens (nitrosamines, heavy metals, irritant chemicals, radionuclides and substances known as reproductive toxicants, such as carbon monoxide) have been found in mainstream tobacco smoke, including nine chemical agents classified as human carcinogens by the International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC). Some of these are formed not only during processing but also while a person is smoking. IARC has classified tobacco smoke as a Group 1 carcinogen (known to be carcinogenic in humans). The irritant components have also been associated with emphysema. Nicotine, carbon monoxide and nitrogen monoxide have cardiovascular effects, while nicotine is responsible for the addictive properties of tobacco and its smoke.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> National Institute of Public Health press release, 2 May 2005.

### Measurement and assessment of exposure

Exposure assessments can be carried out by measuring suitable ETS indicator components in the air, by means of biomarkers of exposure, and often through epidemiological studies using surveys and questionnaires.

The marker compounds most widely used for assessing the presence and concentration of ETS in indoor air are vapour-phase nicotine and respirable suspended particle (RSP) mass. Airborne nicotine and 3-ethenylpyridine (used by some researchers) are specific to tobacco combustion, while respirable suspended particles are present in large quantities but are not unique to ETS. Carbon monoxide may also be used as a marker for ETS; there are, however, many sources of carbon monoxide in addition to tobacco smoke.

### Health effects

It is estimated that in 2001, in the European Union (EU) alone, exposure to ETS accounted for between 50 000 and 100 000 deaths each year, while more than seven million people are regularly exposed at work (10). A large number of studies on the health risks to non-smokers of exposure to ETS have been published since the mid-1980s.

### Cancer

Passive smoking exposes people to the same numerous carcinogens and toxic substances as active smoking. The risk of developing lung cancer by people who have never smoked but who are exposed to ETS at the workplace has been shown to be 16–19% higher than for those not occupationally exposed to ETS (20).

More than 50 studies on passive smoking and lung cancer risk in people who have never smoked, especially spouses of smokers, have been conducted during the last 25 years. Most of these showed an increased risk, especially for persons with higher exposures. To evaluate the information collectively, meta-analyses have been carried out in which the relative risk estimates from the individual studies are pooled together and thus provide a more precise estimate of the risk (as compared to studies with a limited number of cases). Most published meta-analyses show that there is a statistically significant and consistent association between lung cancer risk in spouses of smokers and exposure to tobacco smoke from the smoker. The excess

risk is some 20% for women and 30% for men and remains in this order of magnitude after controlling for some potential sources of bias and confounding (e.g. misclassification of smokers as having never smoked, background exposure to second-hand smoke, adjusting for fruit and vegetable consumption, etc.) (21-25).

Meta-analyses of lung cancer in those who have never smoked exposed to second-hand tobacco smoke at the workplace show a statistically significant increase in risk of 12–19% (23,26,27).

The evidence for an association between the risk of developing some other types of cancer and exposure to tobacco smoke in those who have never smoked is insufficient and in some cases inconsistent. Nevertheless, several case control studies have found a statistically significant increased risk, particularly for breast cancer.

### Cardiovascular and respiratory diseases

Exposure to ETS is associated with an increased risk of coronary heart disease (28,29). It has been shown that passive smoking increases the risk of an acute cardiovascular event by 25-30% (20).

Each year, exposure to ETS causes between 30 000 and 60 000 deaths and between 90 000 and 180 000 nonfatal cardiovascular events in the United States (30, 31), and between 50 000 and 100 000 deaths and between 200 000 and 400 000 nonfatal cardiovascular events in the EU (32). ETS is also major cause of asthma, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and other respiratory symptoms. Many of the substances contained in tobacco smoke lead to defects in mucociliary clearance of the airways and to an impairment of immunological defence mechanisms, which increases susceptibility to respiratory infections. Repeated respiratory infections predispose to the development of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (33,34). An association and dose–response relationship has been shown between occupational ETS exposure and respiratory symptoms such as cough, phlegm production, shortness of breath and common cold symptoms (35).

### Reproductive health

There is some evidence to suggest that exposure to ETS is associated with an increased risk of sexual impotence in men. The scientific evidence shows that active smoking by women during pregnancy reduces the average birth weight by 150–200 grams and doubles the

risk of low birth weight. Some evidence suggests that women who are exposed to ETS during pregnancy are at higher risk of giving birth prematurely (36).

### 2.3. The cost of smoking at work

Strong economic incentives exist for the adoption of smoke-free workplace policies. The cost to governments and private industry associated with the development and implementation of policies preventing exposure to ETS at places of work and public places have been shown to be far lower than the resulting economic gains. The economic benefits derived from improved health and increased productivity have been well documented for both workers and employers.

In Canada, the increased absenteeism due to smoking resulted in an annual cost of about Can\$ 230 (approximately US\$ 192) per smoking employee in 1995 (37). This amount reflected the cost to the employer of the nearly two days of additional leave taken by each employee who smoked. The average cost to employers of the reduced productivity of employees smoking in non-break periods was estimated to be Can\$ 2175 (approximately US\$ 1812) per smoking employee per year (37). This amount reflected the cost to the employer when smoking took place in company time.

In Scotland, the costs imposed on employers by employees who smoked were estimated to be £450 million (about US\$ 900 million) as a result of lost productivity, £40 million (about US\$ 80 million) from higher rates of absenteeism and £4 million (about US\$ 8 million) as a result of fire damage (38). The total number of smoking employees in Scotland was calculated to be 0.55 million, giving an estimated cost of £898 (about US\$ 1796) per smoking employee (38). These estimates exclude other possible costs such as cleaning, redecoration and repairs to machinery.

The additional annual cost to employers per smoking employee has been estimated at US\$ 1226 in Germany, US\$ 1025 in the Netherlands and US\$ 2258 in Sweden (5).

Employers are becoming increasingly aware of the need to maximize the productivity of their workforce, and the effective management of sickness absenteeism is gaining in importance. Smoking has a negative impact on productivity by contributing to increased morbidity and absenteeism, early retirement and loss of time due to smoking breaks. The employer faces higher maintenance and cleaning costs and higher risks of fire and explosion due to smoking at work. Tobacco-related illnesses have an impact on retirement and health care issues as well as on insurance costs.

The concern about the possibility of legal action being taken by an employee affected by ETS may also be one of the "modern" forces motivating employers to introduce smoke-free policies. Thus the direct and indirect benefits of making a workplace smoke-free are clearly greater than the costs.

The issues surrounding the economic effects of banning smoking in restaurants and bars continue to be debated. Nevertheless, various studies have revealed that bans do not damage trade and therefore do not have a negative impact on the hospitality sector. According to the World Bank, the fears of the hospitality industry that smoking bans may damage business interests are largely unfounded (16). A recent study compared the quality of evidence and conclusions about the economic impact of smoke-free legislation on the hospitality industry, based on the type of data used, how the studies were designed, analysed and interpreted, and the source of funding (39). The authors concluded that all of the best designed studies reported either no effect or a positive effect on sales and employment of bans on smoking in restaurants and bars.

Recent retail sales figures from Ireland show a minuscule decline in the volume of bar sales since 2001 (17). Bar sales declined in volume by 4.2% in 2003 and 4.4% in 2004. However, economic analysts suggest that this continuing downward trend is due to a number of factors including high prices, changing lifestyles and shifting demographic patterns.

A report published in February 2004 by the Centres for Disease Control and Prevention in the United States concludes that revenues of bars and restaurants had not been affected since the introduction of a well-enforced ban on smoking in El Paso, Texas in 2002 (40).

A review released in March 2004, one year after comprehensive smoke-free legislation took effect in New York, revealed that business tax receipts in restaurants and bars had risen by 8.7%, that employment in the sector had increased by  $10\,600$  jobs, and that there was strong public support for the measures (41).

### 3. International legislation

The right of human beings not to be exposed to ETS in public places, including workplaces, has increasingly been recognized. Over the last 20–30 years, regulations on smoking in public places have increasingly become more restrictive. The main driving force for these developments has been the increasing solid evidence on the health effects of ETS and wide public support, from non-smokers as well as smokers, for stricter regulation. However, according to *The European report on tobacco control policy (42)*, the workplace seems to be a less regulated public environment in terms of protecting the rights of non-smokers.

The existing international legislation is certainly offering some tools and, in some cases, providing legal obligations for regulating smoking at work. Three sources of international law are dealt with in this chapter: the WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control, existing EU legislation and the various legal tools provided by the International Labour Organization (ILO).

## 3.1. The WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control

The WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control, the world's first public health treaty, was adopted unanimously by WHO's 192 Member States on 21May 2003 during the 56th World Health Assembly. This treaty is the first international legal instrument designed to reduce tobacco-related death and disease around the world. The Convention entered into force on 27 February 2005.

### Preamble

The primary aim of any preamble is to introduce the background and purpose of the treaty. According to the Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties (43), the preamble is part of the context of the treaty for

purposes of interpretation. Though it is not considered to be part of the legally binding text of the treaty, it still provides internationally agreed arguments for the countries. The Preamble of the Convention notes "the concern of the international community about the devastating worldwide health, social, economic and environmental consequences of tobacco consumption and exposure to tobacco smoke". The treaty also recognizes in its Preamble "that scientific evidence has unequivocally established that tobacco consumption and exposure to tobacco smoke cause death, disease and disability, and that there is a time lag between the exposure to smoking and the other uses of tobacco products and the onset of tobacco-related diseases".

### *Article 3*

Article 3 of the Convention lays down the objective of the Convention: "to protect present and future generations from the devastating health, social, environmental and economic consequences of tobacco consumption and exposure to tobacco smoke by providing a framework for tobacco control measures to be implemented by the Parties at the national, regional and international levels in order to reduce continually and substantially the prevalence of tobacco use and exposure to tobacco smoke". Hereby the Convention not only emphasizes the reduction of tobacco use but also a reduction in exposure to tobacco smoke, and hence an explicit recognition of the importance of smoke-free workplaces as a key factor in achieving the objectives of the Convention.

### Article 4

Article 4 includes the guiding principles of the treaty. Traditionally, guiding principles are not obligations but rather concepts providing guidance to countries in implementing the treaty. It is important to notice that in Article 4 the Convention goes beyond the classical idea of protecting non-smokers by asserting that *everybody* has the right not to be exposed to tobacco smoke: "Strong political commitment is necessary to develop and support, at the national, regional and international levels, comprehensive multisectoral measures and coordinated responses, taking into consideration: (a) the need to take measures to protect all persons from exposure to tobacco smoke ...".

### Article 5

Article 5 sets out general obligations for countries in respect of the implementation of the treaty. However, in order to provide a certain measure of flexibility for the countries, it does not specify what types of domestic legal measure are expected. In most cases, the general obligations are followed by provisions requiring concrete measures at country level. Despite the general nature of this article, it obliges countries to take legal action in respect of smoking at work. Member States that have ratified the treaty and become Parties shall "adopt and implement effective legislative, executive, administrative and/or other measures and cooperate, as appropriate, with other Parties in developing appropriate policies for preventing and reducing tobacco consumption, nicotine addiction and exposure to tobacco smoke".

### Article 8

As mentioned above, general obligations in the treaty are followed by provisions requiring concrete measures. In the case of protection from exposure to tobacco smoke, Article 8 states that:

Each Party shall adopt and implement in areas of existing national jurisdiction as determined by national law and actively promote at other jurisdictional levels the adoption and implementation of effective legislative, executive, administrative and/or other measures, providing for protection from exposure to tobacco smoke in indoor workplaces, public transport, indoor public places and, as appropriate, other public places.

Article 8 leaves to it the country to determine the types of measure needed to implement this provision. It also states that there is an obligation not only to adopt but also to implement those measures; thus the mechanism for actual implementation has to be put in place.

### Article 12

Article 12 provides for education, communication, training and public awareness. Each Party is required to promote and strengthen public awareness on tobacco control issues, including awareness on exposure to tobacco smoke, using all available communication tools.

### Article 14

Indirectly, Article 14 dealing with tobacco dependence and cessation also addresses the obligations of the Parties in the area of protection

from exposure to tobacco smoke at work. The Article states that "...each Party shall endeavour to: (a) design and implement effective programmes aimed at promoting the cessation of tobacco use, in such locations as educational institutions, health care facilities, workplaces and sporting environments ...".

During the years that it took to negotiate the Framework Convention, countries became increasingly inspired to initiate or strengthen their work in ensuring better protection from exposure to tobacco smoke. For those countries that have ratified the Convention and become Parties, the Convention place further legal obligations concerning protection from exposure to tobacco smoke at workplaces. Countries that have not yet ratified it can use the Convention as a source of internationally agreed, evidence-based arguments for regulating smoking at workplaces. While considering the treaty as a valuable source of such arguments, however, it is important to consider all relevant parts of the Convention, including the Preamble and the various articles.

The first session of the Conference of the Parties (CoP) to the WHO FCTC that was held in Geneva on 6-17 February 2006 decided, among other things, to start developing guidelines for protection from exposure to tobacco smoke (Article 8 of the FCTC). These guidelines or at least a progress report should be presented to the second CoP foreseen to be convened in the first half of 2007.

### 3.2. Legislation in the EU

Tobacco control legislation at the EU level consists of legally binding directives and nonbinding resolutions and recommendations. EU legislation is particularly relevant for its Member States, which are legally obliged to comply with and implement certain legal acts of the European Communities in their national legislation. This may encourage other countries, too, to develop and strengthen their legislation in the field of protection from tobacco smoke at workplaces.

At the EU level, there are eight occupational health and safety directives, legally binding on Member States, concerning the regulation of the smoking at work. Some of those directives are more far-reaching than others, and provide protection from exposure to

tobacco smoke at workplaces. One of these, for example, is the Directive concerning the minimum safety and health requirements for the workplace (89/391/EEC) (44). The deadline for the start of its implementation at national level was the end of 1992. It requires a health assessment of employees to be carried out, which should include exposure to tobacco smoke in the workplace. Another directive (92/85/EEC) concerns measures to improve the conditions at work of pregnant and breastfeeding women (45). Here, the deadline for the start of implementation was the end of 1994. The directive states that workers should not be exposed to a variety of chemical agents known to pose a health risk, including carbon monoxide.

Other relevant EU directives related to occupational health and safety are summarized in Table 1.

Table 1. EU directives related to occupational health and safety

Scope	Number	Main requirement(s)
Minimum safety and health requirements for the workplace	89/654/EEC	Requires that employers ensure that workers are protected against the discomfort caused by tobacco smoke
Implementation of minimum safety and health requirements at temporary or mobile construction sites	92/57/EEC	Requires that employers ensure that workers are protected against the discomfort caused by tobacco smoke
Minimum requirements for improving the safety and health protection of workers in the mineral- extracting industries through drilling	92/91/EEC	Requires that employers ensure that workers are protected against the discomfort caused by tobacco smoke
Minimum requirements for improving the safety and health protection of workers in surface and underground mineral- extracting industries	92/104/EEC	Requires that employers ensure that workers are protected against the discomfort caused by tobacco smoke
Protection of workers from the risks related to exposure to asbestos at work	83/477/EC	Prohibits smoking in areas where asbestos is handled

These EU directives are complemented by some nonbinding recommendations and resolutions that encourage greater protection from exposure to tobacco smoke. The most recent recommendation is from 2002 (46) calling on Member States to implement legislation that provides protection from exposure to ETS in indoor workplaces, enclosed public places and public transport, giving priority to educational and health care facilities and places providing services for children. The European Commission is planning to launch a Green Paper on smoke-free environments in autumn 2006. An informal consultation paper on this was sent to EU Member States and key stakeholders in May 2006.

Although EU legislation is applicable to the 25 Member States, it remains a valuable source of reference for countries outside the EU. In the light of recent developments in some countries of the WHO European Region and the EU's continuing commitment to them, it may be expected that the EU will oversee their existing legislation in this area.

### 3.3. International Labour Organization (ILO)

Smoking at work can be a serious health and safety hazard. Promotion and implementation of a smoke-free environment therefore falls under ILO's mandate to create safe and healthy workplaces (8).

Under the auspices of ILO, several international conventions and recommendations have been adopted that state the right to a safe and healthy working environment. Several countries of the WHO European Region have ratified these conventions and are therefore legally bound to take the required action at national level by providing a healthy environment at workplaces.

The ILO Convention on occupational safety and health (C 155) (13) is legally binding on the 26 countries in the WHO European Region that have ratified it to date. As of January 2006 these countries are Albania (2004), Belarus (2000), Bosnia and Herzegovina (1993), Croatia (1991), Cyprus (1989), the Czech Republic (1993), Denmark (1995), Finland (1985), Hungary (1994), Iceland (1991), Ireland (1995), Kazakhstan (1996), Latvia (1994), Luxembourg (2001), the Netherlands (1991), Norway (1982), Portugal (1985), the Republic of Moldova (2000), the Russian Federation (1998), Serbia and

Montenegro (2000), Slovakia (1993), Slovenia (1992), Spain (1985), Sweden (1982), The former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia (1991) and Turkey (2005). The Convention states that the working environment should be healthy and safe, in the light of national conditions and practices, for all concerned parties.

As of January 2006, the ILO Convention on the working environment (C 148) (47) has been ratified by 28 Member States of the WHO European Region: Azerbaijan (1992), Belgium (1994), Bosnia and Herzegovina (1993), Croatia (1991), the Czech Republic (1993), Denmark (1988), Finland (1979), France (1985), Germany (1993), Hungary (1994), Italy (1985), Kazakhstan (1996), Kyrgyzstan (1992), Latvia (1993), Malta (1988), Norway (1979), Poland (2004), Portugal (1981), the Russian Federation (1988), San Marino (1988), Serbia and Montenegro (2000), Slovakia (1993), Slovenia (1992), Spain (1980), Sweden (1978), Tajikistan (1993), The former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia (1991) and the United Kingdom (1979). They are legally obliged to respect the right of all workers to breathe clean air. Article 4 of the Convention requires that national legislations prescribe measures for the prevention and control of, and protection against, occupational hazards in the working environment due to air pollution, noise and vibration. Here the term "air pollution" covers a wide range of substances that are harmful to health and thus includes tobacco smoke.

The ILO Convention on occupational cancer (C 139) (48) was adopted as early as 1974. As of January 2006, 20 countries in the WHO European Region have ratified it and thus are legally bound by its requirements. These countries are Belgium (1996), Bosnia and Herzegovina (1993), Croatia (1991), the Czech Republic (1993), Denmark (1978), Finland (1977), France (1994), Germany (1976), Hungary (1975), Iceland (1991), Ireland (1995), Italy (1981), Norway (1977), Portugal (1999), Serbia and Montenegro (2000), Slovakia (1993), Slovenia (1992), Sweden (1975), Switzerland (1976) and The former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia (1991). This Convention states that the Parties "shall prescribe the measures to be taken to protect workers against the risks of exposure to carcinogenic substances or agents and shall ensure the establishment of an appropriate system of records". The Convention also applies to tobacco, since tobacco is classified IARC as a carcinogen.

In conclusion, as stated by ILO (7), tobacco-related problems should be considered as health problems and dealt with in the same way as any other health problem at work. ILO certainly provides some tools through its international conventions and recommendations to solve this health problem at national level.

Table 2 gives an overview of the status of countries of the WHO European Region vis-à-vis the main sources of international legislation in the area of protection from exposure to tobacco smoke (as of January 2006).

Table 2. Status of WHO European Member States in terms of international legislation on protection from exposure to tobacco smoke

Country	WHO Framework Convention	EU Directives	ILO Conventions
Albania		Not applicable	C155
Andorra		Not applicable	
Armenia	X	Not applicable	
Austria	X	X	
Azerbaijan	X	Not applicable	C148
Belarus	X	Not applicable	C155
Belgium	X	X	C148, C139
Bosnia and Herzegovina		Not applicable	C139, C148, C155
Bulgaria	X	Not applicable	
Croatia		Not applicable	C139, C148, C155
Cyprus	X	X	C155
Czech Republic		Х	C139, C148, C155
Denmark	Х	Х	C139, C148, C155
Estonia	X	X	
Finland	Х	Х	C139, C148, C155

Country	WHO Framework Convention	EU Directives	ILO Conventions
France	X	X	C139, C148
Georgia	X	Not applicable	
Germany	X	X	C139, C148
Greece	X	X	
Hungary	X	X	C139, C148, C155
Iceland	X	Not applicable	C139
			C155
Ireland	X	X	C139
			C155
Israel	X	Not applicable	
Italy		X	C139
			C148
Kazakhstan		Not applicable	C148
			C155
Kyrgyzstan		Not applicable	C148
Latvia	X	X	C148
			C155
Lithuania	X	X	
Luxembourg	X	X	C155
Malta	X	X	C148
Monaco			
Netherlands	X	X	C155
Norway	Χ	Not applicable	C139, C148, C155
Poland		X	C148
Portugal	X	X	C139, C148, C155
Republic of Moldova		Not applicable	
Romania	Х	Not applicable	

Country	WHO Framework Convention	EU Directives	ILO Conventions
Russian Federation		Not applicable	C148, C155
San Marino	Х	Not applicable	C148
Serbia and Montenegro	X	Not applicable	C139, C148 C155
Slovakia	X	X	C139, C148, C155
Slovenia	X	X	C139, C148, C155
Spain	X	X	C148, C155
Sweden	X	X	C139, C148, C155
Switzerland		Not applicable	C139
Tajikistan		Not applicable	C148
The former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia		Not applicable	C139, C148, C155
Turkey	X	Not applicable	C155
Turkmenistan		Not applicable	
Ukraine		Not applicable	
United Kingdom	X	X	C148
Uzbekistan		Not applicable	

In addition to international law, the role of non-binding international instruments such as the recommendations, resolutions and strategies of various international organizations should not be underestimated. It has to be acknowledged that most of the recommendations and principles contained in these legally nonbinding documents are in many instances even stronger than the legally binding international legislation. Article 2 of the WHO Framework Convention (2), for example, encourages countries to implement measures beyond those required by the Convention in order to better protect human health.

One of the international tools available to countries is the WHO European Strategy for Tobacco Control (1). This Strategy goes beyond the minimum set of measures required by the Convention and thereby complements it. In the area of protection from exposure to tobacco smoke, the Strategy calls upon countries to:

- introduce or strengthen legislation in order to make all public places smoke-free, including public transport and workplaces;
- ban or severely restrict smoking in restaurants and bars, to protect owners, employees and clients; and
- classify ETS as a carcinogen in order to protect the rights of workers and to hasten the banning of smoking at all workplaces.

### 4. National legislation

For some decades, regulation of smoking in public places has generally become more restrictive in the WHO European Region. As public places include workplaces, restricting smoking in public places also protects some employees, while regulating smoking at workplaces may also protect people in other public places. The trend in the Region has moved from restrictions on smoking in specific institutions such as schools and hospitals, to separating smokers and non-smokers in a larger number of places, to legislation banning or strictly restricting smoking in major public places, including workplaces. The main reasons for these developments are the increasing evidence on the risks of ETS and growing public support for regulation among both smokers and non-smokers. Table 3 summarizes the current situation in the WHO European Region.

Legislating for smoke-free workplaces Page 23

Country	Health care facilities	Educational facilities	Government facilities	Restaurants	Pubs and bars	Indoor workplaces and offices	Theatres and cinemas
Albania	Ban	Ban	Ban	No restriction	No restriction	No restriction	Ban
Andorra	Ban	Ban	Restriction	Restriction	Restriction	Restriction	Restriction
Armenia	Ban	Ban	Ban	Voluntary agreement	Voluntary agreement	Ban	Ban
Austria	Ban	Ban	Restriction	Restriction	Restriction	Restriction	Ban
Azerbaijan	Restriction	Restriction	Restriction	Restriction	Restriction	No restriction	Restriction
Belarus	Ban	Ban	Ban	Restriction	Restriction	Ban	Ban
Belgium	Ban	Ban	Ban	Ban	Restriction	Ban	Ban
Bosnia and Herzegovina	Ban	Ban	Ban	Partial restriction	Partial restriction	Ban	Ban
Bulgaria	Ban	Ban	Ban	No restriction	No restriction	No restriction	Ban
Croatia	Ban	Ban	Ban	Restriction	Restriction	Ban	Ban
Cyprus	Ban	Ban	Partial restriction	Partial restriction	Partial restriction	Partial restriction	Ban
Czech Republic	Ban	Ban	Ban	Restriction	Restriction	Ban	Ban
Denmark	Restriction	Restriction	Restriction	No restriction	No restriction	Restriction	Restriction

Table 3. The status of smoking regulation in the Member States of the WHO European Region

Country	Health care facilities	Educational facilities	Government facilities	Restaurants	Pubs and bars	Indoor workplaces and offices	Theatres and cinemas
Estonia	Ban	Ban	Ban	Restriction	Restriction	Ban	Ban
Finland	Ban	Ban	Ban	Restriction	Restriction	Ban	Ban
France	Ban	Ban	Ban	Restriction	Restriction	Restriction	Ban
Georgia	Restriction	Restriction	Restriction	Restriction	Restriction	Restriction	Restriction
Germany	Restriction	Restriction	Restriction	Restriction	Restriction	Restriction	Restriction
Greece	Ban	Ban	Ban	Restriction	Restriction	Ban	Ban
Hungary	Ban	Ban	Ban	Restriction	Restriction	Ban	Ban <sup>a</sup>
Iceland	Ban	Ban	Ban	Restriction	Restriction	Ban	Ban
Ireland	Ban <sup>b</sup>	Ban	Ban	Ban	Ban	Ban	Ban
Israel	Ban	Ban	Ban	Restriction	Restriction	Ban	Restriction
Italy <sup>c</sup>	Ban	Ban	Ban	Ban	Ban	Ban	Ban
Kazakhstan	Restriction	Restriction	Restriction	Restriction	Restriction	Restriction	Restriction
Kyrgyzstan	No restriction	No restriction	No restriction	No restriction	No restriction	No restriction	No restriction
Latvia	Restriction	Ban	Restriction	Restriction	Restriction	Restriction	Restriction
Lithuania	Ban	Ban	Ban	Restriction	Restriction	Restriction	Ban
Luxembourg	Ban	Ban	No restriction	No restriction	No restriction	No restriction	Ban
Malta <sup>c</sup>	Ban	Ban	Ban	Ban	Ban	Ban	Ban

Country	Health care facilities	Educational facilities	Government facilities	Restaurants	Pubs and bars	Indoor workplaces and offices	Theatres and cinemas
Monaco	No data available	No data available	No data available	No data available	No data available	No data available	No data available
Netherlands	Ban	Ban	Ban	Voluntary agreement	Voluntary agreement	Ban	Ban
Norway	Ban	Ban	Ban	Ban	Ban	Ban	Ban
Poland	Restriction	Restriction	Restriction	Restriction	Restriction	Restriction	Restriction
Portugal	Ban	Ban	Ban	Voluntary agreement	Voluntary agreement	Ban	Ban
Republic of Moldova	Ban	Ban	Restriction	No restriction	No restriction	Restriction	Restriction
Romania <sup>d</sup>	Ban	Ban	Ban	Ban	Ban	Ban	Ban
Russian Federation	Restriction	Restriction	Restriction	No restriction	No restriction	Restriction	Restriction
San Marino	No data available	No data available	No data available	No data available	No data available	No data available	No data available
Serbia and Montenegro	Ban	Ban	Ban	Restriction	Restriction	Ban	Ban
Slovakia	Ban	Ban	Ban	Restriction	Restriction	Ban	Ban
Slovenia	Ban	Ban	Restriction	Restriction	Restriction	Ban	Restriction
Spain <sup>e</sup>	Ban	Ban	Ban	Ban	Ban	Ban	Ban
Sweden <sup>c</sup>	Ban	Ban	Ban	Ban	Ban	Ban	Ban

Country	Health care facilities	Educational facilities	Government facilities	Restaurants	Pubs and bars	Indoor workplaces and offices	Theatres and cinemas
Switzerland	Voluntary agreement	Voluntary agreement	Restriction	Voluntary agreement	Voluntary agreement	Restriction	Voluntary agreement
Tajikistan	No restriction	No restriction	No restriction	No restriction	No restriction	No restriction	No restriction
The former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia	Ban	Ban	Ban	Ban	Restriction	Ban	Ban
Turkey	Restriction	Restriction	Restriction	No restriction	No restriction	Restriction	Restriction
Turkmenistan	Ban	Ban	Ban	No restriction	No restriction	Ban	Ban
Ukraine	Restriction	Restriction	Restriction	No restriction	No restriction	No restriction	Restriction
United Kingdom <sup>f</sup>	Voluntary agreement	Voluntary agreement	Voluntary agreement	Voluntary agreement	Voluntary agreement	Voluntary agreement	Voluntary agreement

a with the exception of the bar
b with the exception of psychiatric hospitals and homes for the elderly
c physically separated areas for smoking are provided in bars and restaurants
d a physically separated area for smoking which must comply with specific technical requirements is provided in bars and restaurants
the ban in hospitality sector is only partial since bars and restaurants under 100m2 are exempted
ban entered into force Mar 06 in Scotland will enter into force in N. Ireland and England Apr and Aug 07 respectively. Wales, law being drafted.

As of the beginning of 2006, the majority (70%) of countries in the European Region have enforced bans on smoking<sup>3</sup> in health care, educational and government facilities. Smoking in other public places such as workplaces and cultural institutions is also banned to a lesser extent (60%). Throughout the Region, however, the exception is the hospitality sector, comprising mainly restaurants and bars; only six countries ban smoking in these establishments. This means that the great majority of countries have either introduces non-smoking areas or do not restrict smoking in restaurants and bars at all. It has to be recognized, however, that several countries in the Region have an ongoing political and public debate on banning smoking in the hospitality sector. A closer look is taken at these recent developments and possible changes in the future in the end of this chapter.<sup>3</sup>

Although the majority of countries in the European Region regulate smoking in public places, (except the hospitality sector), either through legislation or by voluntary agreements, the level of enforcement varies between countries.

Different countries use different types of legislation to provide protection from exposure to tobacco smoke. Exposure can be regulated by using public health legislation or health and safety legislation. Public health legislation, aimed at protecting the general public, would also cover workers in public areas in offices and transport. Health and safety legislation covers workers either indirectly (e.g. risk of explosion) or directly (e.g. classification of ETS as a carcinogen).

Finland is a good example of the use of health and safety legislation to control ETS. Up to March 1995, smoking restrictions at workplaces were voluntary. Following the revision of the Tobacco Control Act (49) in 1995, smoking is prohibited in all common and public places, including all workplaces. A partial smoking ban with a long transition period was introduced in restaurants in 2000, but it seems that it has not been effective in protecting workers. The need for stronger

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> A ban provides effective protection from ETS by imposing a total ban on smoking. In some exceptional cases the term ban has been applied to describe the situation where physically separated areas for smoking are still provided. These exceptions are highlighted and accompanied by footnotes.

protection is obvious, and a complete smoking ban in Finland is currently under discussion.

Various legislative interventions are employed in different countries. In most countries, tobacco control policies are generally the result of national legislation. In some countries, such as United Kingdom, however, legislation is less comprehensive, involving voluntary agreements rather than legally binding obligations. Nevertheless, it seems that voluntary agreements are generally losing ground in the Region and are gradually being replaced by legislation, as exemplified by recent developments in the United Kingdom.

A voluntary agreement is a written record of unilateral or mutual commitment. In unilateral agreements, one party expresses its desire to self-regulate its behaviour (50). These are generally legally non-binding. In some countries, voluntary agreements are used to precede legislation. Existing evidence, however, indicates that voluntary agreements are not an effective option and should therefore be avoided as a general rule, and should certainly not be considered as a substitute for legislation (see also Chapter 5).

As an evidence-based example, a Finnish study found that in terms of reducing smoking and the nicotine concentration in indoor air, legislation has achieved better results than voluntary agreements (51). Nevertheless, restaurants and bars in Finland are still exempt from this smoke-free provision. The only requirement is that 50% of the total seating capacity should be smoke-free. Finland is currently revising its legislation towards a ban on smoking in all restaurants, in the light of the fact that previous efforts to regulate smoking have not been effective in protecting workers. The two main options under consideration are either to ban smoking in restaurants and bars entirely, or to allow smoking in separate, closed rooms with their own ventilation and without any waiter service.

It should be also noted that in a small number of countries, administrative legislation such as decrees, orders and regulations have the full force of the law and can therefore be successfully used for tobacco control. Issued by government agencies, these regulatory measures can be the principal legislation or may specify the means of implementing the principal legislation. Depending on the country, bylaws may be adopted faster and more easily than laws, and can

therefore be considered an alternative to legislation. In Spain and, outside the European Region, the United States, subnational legislation has proved effective in regulating the use of tobacco. Nevertheless, it is important to weigh the advantages and disadvantages of the subnational approach. While a national law provides state-wide uniformity and consistency, enforcement of a subnational law could be more vigorous since the control mechanisms are closer to the community and the level of awareness may be higher.

### 4.1. Recent developments

Many countries in the European Region are gradually strengthening their legislation restricting smoking in workplaces. The most outstanding developments have taken place in Ireland, Italy, Malta, Norway and Sweden. In these countries smoking is banned at all workplaces, either totally or confined to the separate rooms in a way that nobody is involuntarily exposed to tobacco smoke.

### Ireland

A voluntary code on smoking at the workplace was agreed between the Irish Government and social partners and published in 1994. Enclosed workplaces became smoke-free by law in Ireland on 29 March 2004 under the provisions of the Public Health (Tobacco) Acts 2002 and 2004. Since then, offices, shops, factories, bars, restaurants and other enclosed workplaces have been smoke-free. The primary aim of the Irish legislation is to protect third parties, particularly workers, from exposure to the harmful effects of second-hand smoke. Ireland became the first country in Europe to enforce a complete ban on smoking in all workplaces, with some minor exceptions such as prisons, hotel rooms and psychiatric hospitals. These were exempted based on the principal of private residency. The maximum penalty for violating the ban is a fine of €3000.

### Italv

In 2003, Italy adopted a law prohibiting smoking in all indoor workplaces. Smoking was allowed only in special smoking rooms. In restaurants, the smoking area could cover up to half of the total space. Fines for violating the law lay between €25 and €250. As of 10 January 2005, smoking is banned in all indoor premises, including restaurants and bars. The Ministry of Health's strong stand was instrumental in bringing the ban into force, despite lobbying for a

delay. Smoking is still allowed in special closed smoking rooms but only a few restaurants have established such a room, preferring to ban smoking completely. The maximum penalty for violating the ban is a fine of  $\in$ 2200.

### Malta

In Malta, a smoking ban in public places, including bars and restaurants, took effect on 5 April 2004. The actual entry into force of the ban in bars and restaurants was postponed by six months after the adoption of the law. Smoking is allowed only in separate, enclosed smoking rooms and employees have no obligation to enter this room to carry out their duties.

### Norway

Norway introduced legislation on exposure to tobacco smoke as early as 1988. Norway was the first country in the European Region to pass legislation completely banning smoking in restaurants, pubs and bars, although its implementation started after that of Ireland. The legislation entered into force in June 2004. The main purpose of the Norwegian legislation is to protect employees and customers from passive smoking.

### Sweden

Following a decision of Parliament in May 2004, restaurants and bars in Sweden became smoke-free in June 2005. A first attempt had been made some years before to ban smoking in restaurants and bars on a voluntary basis but the approach did not work. The new legislation bans smoking but allows special smoking rooms under certain conditions, one being that there will be no waiter service in such rooms in order to protect the employees.

Countries that have legislated to ban smoking in all workplaces, including bars and restaurants, are listed in Table 4.

Table 4. Countries in the WHO European Region that have banned smoking in all bars and restaurants

Country	Date of the ban	Nature of the ban
Ireland	29 March 2004	Complete ban on smoking with exemptions based on the principle of private residence. These include prisons, hotel rooms and psychiatric hospitals.
Italy	10 January 2005	Separate smoking areas with continuous floor-to-ceiling walls and ventilation system complying to specific technical requirements.
Malta	5 April 2004	Specially designated enclosed smoking rooms. Employees are not required to enter these rooms to carry out their duties.
Norway	1 June 2004	Complete ban on smoking with no special smoking rooms.
Sweden	1 June 2005	Separate smoking rooms in line with special conditions: the room can occupy only a small area; nobody must have to pass through the room; there is no waiter service in the room: no food or drinks can be taken into the room; and detailed technical requirements can be announced by the Government.

Although a ban on smoking in all restaurants and pubs has been introduced in several states in the United States, Ireland, Italy, Malta, Norway and Sweden are among the first countries in the world to have a nationwide ban on smoking in all workplaces, including restaurants, pubs and bars.

In Spain, from January 2006, smoking is prohibited in bars and restaurants larger than 100 m<sup>2</sup>. Small smoking rooms sealed off from the main area may be set up. Despite these recent major developments in Spain, however, further progress could be made by also regulating those bars and restaurants of less than 100 m<sup>2</sup>.

A number of smoking bans have recently been adopted in some other countries of the European Region but have not yet entered into force. In January 2007, Belgium is to introduce measures that will allow smoking in restaurants only in separate rooms that are completely closed off from the rest of the building and where no food is served. Bars and cafes will be exempt from the ban, though they must have adequate ventilation and a non-smoking area. Smoking is already banned in all enclosed workplaces under the employer's authority and to which workers have access (working areas and social facilities) from January 2006. The smoking ban also applies to spaces used by self-employed persons working together with the employees, to which such employees have access. Smoking will only be allowed in premises exclusively and solely intended for smoking. The employer has no obligation to provide these, however.

In the United Kingdom, an active public debate on banning smoking in the hospitality sector has taken place over the last few years. The debate was backed up by strong public opinion in favour of a smoking ban. In November 2004, the Public Health White Paper (52) prepared by the Department of Health was published. This White Paper sets out the key principles for supporting the public to make more healthier and informed choices as regards their health. Chapter 4 of the White Paper sets out the Government's intention to make most enclosed public areas, including workplaces, smoke-free through a staged approach by the end of 2008. On 14 February 2006, however, the British Parliament voted for a ban on smoking in all enclosed public spaces. This total ban will extend to all enclosed areas except private homes, residential care homes, hospitals, prisons and hotel bedrooms, and will come into force in the summer of 2007.

In Estonia, Parliament adopted the new Tobacco Act in May 2005, banning smoking in all restaurants and bars from May 2007. Smoking will, however, be allowed in enclosed separate rooms without any services and with a separate ventilation system.

Finland has been discussing for some time a ban on smoking in all restaurants in the light of the fact that the previous efforts to regulate the smoking have not been effective in protecting workers. In December 2005 the Finnish Government submitted a bill to Parliament that would require restaurateurs to build smoking booths,

where no food or drink would be served, to prevent tobacco smoke from passing into non-smoking areas. The Government plans to have the new law in force by June 2007.

In the Netherlands, smoke-free workplaces became a reality at the beginning of 2004. Smoking is allowed only in enclosed smoking rooms. A temporary exception was made, however, in the case of the hospitality industry, encouraging them to ban smoking on a voluntary basis for the time being. The Government regards the current voluntary measures taken by the hospitality industry as a transitional phase towards smoke-free bars and restaurants.

In Denmark, the Minister of Health announced a public debate throughout the year 2005. This debate will serve as a basis for decisions on the need for further restrictions on smoking in public places. The level of restriction will be determined by the results of the debate and by public opinion in 2006.

Developments in the same direction can be also noted in the eastern part of the European Region. Recently, several countries such as Armenia, Belarus, Bulgaria and Kazakhstan have strengthened their legislation in order to provide better protection from tobacco smoke at workplaces.

On a global scale, countries in Northern Europe and North America, together with Australia and New Zealand, have the longest experience in developing legislation on smoke-free environments. It should be noted, however, that some of the advanced smoke-free workplace legislation has been adopted at subnational level, thus avoiding the difficulties that may occur in enacting national legislation. California, for example, introduced a total ban on smoking in restaurants as early as 1994, expanding the ban to all public places serving food in 1998. By the beginning of 2005, six other states – Connecticut, Delaware, Maine, Massachusetts, New York and Rhode Island – and hundreds of cities have passed smoke-free legislation that encompasses restaurants and bars. In December 2004, New Zealand became the world's fourth country to pass smoke-free workplace legislation that includes bars and restaurants, following Bhutan, Ireland and Norway. Major developments have also taken place in Canada, India, Singapore and South Africa in the last few years.

# **5. Effectiveness of different regulatory measures**

### **5.1.** Different approaches to regulating exposure to tobacco smoke and their effectiveness

Traditionally, two standard approaches are used to reduce exposure to tobacco smoke: legislation and voluntary agreements. The latter has proved to be the less efficient of the two.

Despite voluntary agreements, less than 1% of British pubs are smoke-free according to a recent publication of the British Medical Association (53). A recent study has also shown that, although smoke-free areas are increasing, seven out of ten pubs in Scotland still allow smoking throughout their premises despite the voluntary agreement (54).

In that light, a debate on replacing the voluntary agreements by legal requirements banning smoking in public places is continuing in the United Kingdom. The "Big Smoke Debate" (18) organized recently by the London Health Commission involving over 30 000 respondents indicated that the vast majority (67%), both smokers and non-smokers, wanted completely smoke-free public places (55). A survey by the National Health Service Smoking Helpline discovered that almost 50% of respondents were considering giving up smoking within the next 12 months (56).

#### 5.2. Effectiveness of legislation

There are normally two ways of regulating exposure to tobacco smoke through legislation: a complete smoke-free environment or the provision of special smoking areas, which are often required to be equipped with ventilation. For the latter, it is well established that there is no known safe "threshold" of exposure to tobacco smoke, and that the mere separation of smokers and non-smokers within the same airspace does not protect non-smokers from harm, regardless of the ventilation system used (50).

A report published in 2001 (57) identified nine studies on reductions in ETS exposure in workplaces that had smoking bans or restrictions.

Reductions in exposure to ETS were greater in workplaces that had smoking bans than in those with smoking restrictions only.

The high rate of compliance with smoke-free legislation in Ireland is translating into better air quality in workplaces. A recent study of 40 pubs in Dublin assessed the levels of air pollution before and after the introduction of the smoke-free law by measuring airborne particles (17). The analysis shows that there has been a significant reduction in levels of particulates in pubs following the entry into force of the law. The most remarkable results are for the smaller particles ( $PM_{2.5}$ ), which show a reduction of 87.6%, while the average levels of  $PM_{10}$  have fallen by 53%.

A study commissioned by the Massachusetts Coalition for a Healthy Future measured air quality at six Boston bars in April 2003 and again the following October, after the smoking ban had been in place for about six months (58). This study found that levels of carcinogenic air pollutants in bars had fallen by up to 95%.

Also, the claim that smoke-free legislation is unenforceable proves to be incorrect in the light of the latest evidence. The Office of Tobacco Control in Ireland reported that, one year after the smoke-free legislation was introduced in March 2004, over 94% of premises inspected were complying with the law (17). During the first year, prosecutions were brought against the proprietors of only 12 premises throughout Ireland.

Banning smoking at workplaces through legislation reduces exposure to ETS, changes the attitudes of smokers and increases attempts to quit, and challenges the perception of smoking. A review of 26 studies on the effectiveness of smoke-free workplaces concluded that totally smoke-free workplaces are associated with a reduction in smoking prevalence of 3.8% and with 3.1 fewer cigarettes smoked per day per continuing smoker (59). A study by the University of Toronto's Ontario Tobacco Research Unit indicated that restricting smoking in public places and workplaces leads to a decline in the number of smokers and, for those who do not quit, a decline in the amount smoked daily (60). Among daily smokers, for example, the amount smoked daily was 30% more if there were no restriction on smoking at work compared to a complete ban. Even more importantly, this

association between smoking behaviour and workplace restriction seem to be independent of age, gender, level of education and income.

Evidence of a reduction in smoking prevalence related to both long-standing and more recent smoking bans in workplaces is relatively well-documented and stems from various parts of the world. Studies conducted in Australia and the United States, as well as internal tobacco industry studies, have attributed between 13% and 22% of the decline in tobacco consumption in these countries in recent years to the impact of legislation (50).

The preliminary results from the Norwegian smoking ban show a general willingness to comply among both employees and customers (61). It appears that a total ban is easier to enforce and comply with compared to the earlier situation that legislated for with smoke-free zones. Among the general public, support for the smoking ban increased after implementation. Health problems dropped significantly among employees after the ban came into force, and customers report better air quality in bars.

At the same time, New York City Department of Health and Mental Hygiene reports one of the sharpest short-term declines in the number of adult smokers ever measured – 11% from 2002 to 2003 (62). It is estimated that 19% of adults in New York smoked in 2003 compared to 22% in 2002. Two major factors are thought to have contributed to the fall: a large increase in the tax on cigarettes and the ban on smoking in bars and restaurants.

In conclusion, by legislating for smoke-free workplaces, not only will non-smokers will be protected but also an environment will be created that will encourage smokers to reduce consumption or quit smoking, hopefully leading to a decrease of smoking prevalence.

#### 6. Litigation

The last two decades have been witnessing a major change in tobacco litigation. In the 1976 landmark case of Shimp vs New Jersey Bell Telephone Co.<sup>4</sup> it was ruled that the right of an individual to risk his or her health does not include the right to jeopardize the health of those who must remain around him or her in order to perform properly the duties of their jobs. This ruling came ten years before the US Surgeon General issued his 1986 report *The health consequences of involuntary smoking (63)*, which concluding that simple separation of non-smokers and smokers within the same air space may reduce but not eliminate exposure of non-smokers to ETS. While the trend in tobacco litigation in general, including exposure to tobacco smoke, was set in the United States, a number of other countries have successfully followed suit.

Recent court cases have shown that the protection of workers from exposure to tobacco smoke at their workplaces is becoming an important occupational health issue. In 1997, an American flight attendant won a settlement in a class action lawsuit on behalf of flight attendants harmed by tobacco smoke. A year earlier in Germany a stewardess sued her employer, Lufthansa. The court ruled that, although a company must protect non-smokers, as long as smoking flights exist, an individual employee cannot request smoke-free flights. Since that time, eight EU Member States and Norway have experienced litigation to protect the rights of non-smokers.

In 2000 in the Netherlands, a court upheld a postal worker's complaint that her exposure to tobacco smoke in the workplace violated her right to work in a smoke-free environment. The same year, the Norwegian Supreme Court found a causal connection between the hazardous effects of a working environment (a smoke-polluted nightclub) and the poor health of the plaintiff. The court concluded that exposure to tobacco smoke contributed 40% of the cause, while the plaintiff's own active smoking constituted 60%. In 2002, two bank managers in Italy were found guilty following the death of an employee exposed to tobacco smoke at the bank. Although there was no law against passive smoking in Italy at the time, the Constitutional Court ruled that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Shimp vs New Jersey Bell Telephone Co., 368 A2d 408 (New Jersey Supreme Court 1976).

smoking can be allowed only in specially designated rooms. In Italy, the Constitutional Court has several times followed the principle established in 1991 that the constitutional right to health protection prevails over the freedom to smoke. In 2003, a casino worker in London who developed asthma was awarded compensation after 14 years of being exposed to smoke at work because the premises were not properly ventilated. In France, a bar owner was found guilty of dismissing his bartender, arguing that the worker could not fulfil his duties because of exposure to tobacco smoke and inadequate provisions for dealing with smoke in the bar.

In conclusion, successful legal cases in which exposure to tobacco smoke is a pivotal factor benefit other litigants and persuade employers to make their premises smoke-free. The WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control, through Article 19 on liability, could serve as an additional vehicle for expanding tobacco litigation globally and, most importantly, in the WHO European Region.

# 7. Exposure to ETS at work — Finland as a case study

#### 7.1. ETS and tobacco legislation in Finland

The first tobacco control legislation in Finland was launched in 1977, the Tobacco Act restricting smoking in public buildings but not in workplaces. In 1992, the Ministry of Social Affairs and Health began preparing for a reform of the Tobacco Act. One of the most important improvements was the protection of individuals against the risks of exposure to ETS, especially at work. In 1995 the legislation came into force and including all workplaces with the exception of restaurants.

The second amendment of the Tobacco Act was prepared by the Ministry of Social Affairs and Health in association with the trade unions. It passed through the Parliament in early 1999 and took effect in March 2000. In the new legislation, ETS was recognized as a carcinogen, the first time this had been done in national legislation. The new legislation restricted smoking to limited areas in restaurants and tobacco smoke was not allowed to spread to other areas. The non-smoking area had to cover at least 30% (later 50%) of the total area reserved for clients in restaurants larger than 50 m<sup>2</sup>.

#### 7.2. Exposure to ETS after the Tobacco Act

As a result of legislation, exposure to ETS has significantly declined in Finnish workplaces since 1995. Questionnaire surveys and measurements of nicotine in the air were carried out in workplaces employing over 1400 workers before the Tobacco Act was launched and again 1–3 years after it came into force (64). The results showed that between 1994 and 1998 the concentration of nicotine in the air fell from  $5.7 \pm 14.1 \ \mu g/m^3$  to  $<0.1 \pm 0.1 \ \mu g/m^3$  in industrial workplaces, from  $3.0 \pm 5.1 \ \mu g/m^3$  to  $0.2 \pm 0.1 \ \mu g/m^3$  in the service sector, and from  $0.6 \pm 0.5 \ \mu g/m^3$  to  $<0.1 \pm 0.1 \ \mu g/m^3$  in offices (53). The prevalence of workers exposed to ETS for more than four hours daily decreased from 32.9% to 3.4%, while the proportion of those not exposed to smoke increased from 20.7% in 1994 to 70.7% in 1998 (51). Unfortunately, workers in small-scale industries report a higher prevalence of exposure owing to insufficient implementation of the Tobacco Act in these workplaces.

In 1997, two years after the reform of the Tobacco Act, approximately 340 000 Finnish workers (16% of the employed population) were exposed to ETS at work, 10% of them continuously (65). Most of them worked in restaurants and bars. Among restaurant workers in 1999, 32% of women and 45% of men smoked daily and 45% of women and 49% of men reported that they were exposed to ETS for more than four hours a day. The percentages decreased slightly after 2000 when new legislation covering restaurants came into force. In 2001, one year after the new legislation, the percentages of those exposed for more than four hours a day decreased among women to 36% and among men to 42%, and in 2003 to 29% and 35%, respectively (66). Between 1999 and 2003, the proportion of waiters exposed to smoke for more than fours a day fell from 73% to 49% and among bartenders from 93% to 78%. Thus the impact of the Finnish tobacco legislation in restaurants has not been sufficient. Approximately one third of all people and one fifth of smokers expressed the wish to have their workplace completely smoke-free. Approximately 50% of people would allow smoking in specifically designated facilities, while only 3% would not restrict smoking in at all restaurants

## 7.3. KymCAREX: an information system for exposure assessment

Effective prevention of occupational cancer on the regional level requires knowledge on the occurrence and amount of exposure to carcinogens. The Ministry of Social Affairs and Health asked the Institute of Occupational Health to construct an information system to support the activities of the occupational safety office in the Kymi region in Eastern Finland. An information system called KymCAREX was constructed on the basis of data available from the carcinogen exposure database (CAREX) of the European Union, the Finnish Register of Exposure to Carcinogens (ASA), Finnish job exposure matrix (FINJEM), the exposure measurement database of the Institute of Occupational Health and labour force statistics. KymCAREX provides municipal and national estimates of numbers of exposed workers, by level of exposure, for 151 physical or chemical carcinogens and 95 industrial classes, which enables the local labour safety authorities to target their advisory and control activities.

According to the KymCAREX, the estimated total number of workers in Finland in 2000 exposed to ETS was about 102 000. This makes ETS the second most commonly occurring carcinogen at Finnish workplaces after solar radiation (130 000 exposed workers), followed by crystalline silica (76 000), wood dust (56 000), radon (50 000) and diesel exhaust (37 000) out of a total labour force of 2.4 million. The highest numbers of workers estimated to be exposed to ETS (36% of 102 000) work in hotels and restaurants. These workers are those with either the highest or the second highest exposure to nicotine.

The KymCAREX database can be used in other countries for exposure assessment at regional or even national level.

#### 7.4. Control of ETS exposure

The most effective measure for reducing exposure to tobacco smoke in Finland has proven to be strict tobacco legislation. The Tobacco Act has been most effective in public buildings and workplaces other than restaurants. In principle all workers, with the exception of employees in restaurants, are now protected against exposure to tobacco smoke. According to Finnish tobacco legislation, restaurants and bars can reserve up to 50% of their service area for smokers. The

spreading of ETS into non-smoking areas has to be prevented and the working areas of bar counters have to be smoke-free.

Altogether, 16 restaurants and bars participated in a field study carried out before and after the reform of the Tobacco Act in 2000 (66,67). The average airborne nicotine concentration, adjusted for the number of cigarettes smoked, was lower in 9 out of 16 bars and restaurants after the introduction of the Act. At bar counters, nicotine concentration was lower in 10 establishments. In these restaurants, the mean concentration of nicotine in the air was 15  $\mu$ g/m³ after the Tobacco Act took effect, compared to 19.5  $\mu$ g/m³ previously.

According to the same study, 4 out of 16 lunch and dining restaurants had relatively low nicotine concentrations (2.6  $\mu$ g/m³) in non-smoking areas even before the reform of the Tobacco Act. After the reform, the mean nicotine concentration was 0.4  $\mu$ g/m³ in non-smoking sections and 7.5  $\mu$ g/m³ in smoking sections.

In bars and taverns, the mean nicotine concentration in air samples was 31  $\mu g/m^3$  before the service area was divided into smoking and non-smoking areas. After the reform of the tobacco legislation, the mean concentration of nicotine in non-smoking sections was  $10~\mu g/m^3$  and in smoking sections  $27~\mu g/m^3$ . At the same time, in nightclubs and discotheques the mean concentration of nicotine was  $17~\mu g/m^3$  before the Tobacco Act reform, while afterwards it was  $17~\mu g/m^3$  in smoking sections and  $14~\mu g/m^3$  in non-smoking sections.

The best improvements in ETS levels were seen in restaurants that had constructed a wall between the smoking and non-smoking areas and introduced changes to the ventilation system. Nicotine concentrations at bar counters, however, did not differ significantly before and after the change in legislation, except where the bar counter was in the non-smoking section. These results suggest that partial smoking restrictions reduce ETS concentrations in non-smoking areas but do not totally eliminate the exposure of workers to ETS.

In restaurants, partial smoking restrictions appear not to be sufficiently effective, even where ventilation rates meet the requirements of the building regulations (10 dm<sup>3</sup>/s per person). Smoking in bars and nightclubs is more common than in other types of establishment; according to recent studies the concentration of nicotine in bars and

nightclubs was nearly 10 times higher than in restaurants (66,67). Moreover, the exposure of workers to ETS did not diminish as much as was expected.

A necessary precondition for low ETS concentrations is separate rooms for smokers and non-smokers and an effective ventilation system. The air flow rate stipulated in existing Finnish building regulations (10 dm³/s per person) has not been shown to be sufficient to achieve good indoor air quality in bars, taverns and nightclubs. In new building regulations, valid since October 2003, the requirements for smoking areas are twice as high at 20 dm³/s per person. However, it is important to note that, no matter how high the general airflow rate is, the general ventilation is not capable of coping with local conditions close to the source of contamination.

As a result, there is public pressure for a further reform of tobacco legislation. Finland is thus carrying out a revision of the Tobacco Act that will most likely result in a total ban on smoking in all restaurants, bars, taverns and night clubs.

Diminishing exposure to tobacco smoke also affects the prevalence of daily smoking and diseases related to tobacco. According to a recent study, the Finnish Tobacco Act has been effective in reducing the prevalence of daily smoking (68). Among Finnish men, smoking prevalence has decreased continuously, from 58% to 28% between 1960 and 2000. Between 1965 and 1971, lung cancer incidence among men was still on the increase, but has since fallen from 80 to 32 per 100 000 men. Mortality from respiratory disease among men also declined steeply during the study period. From 1960 to 1973, smoking prevalence among women increased from 12% to 20%. After the adoption of the Tobacco Act in 1975, the increase levelled off and female smoking prevalence slightly decreased, only to rise again after 1985 to remain at 20%. Lung cancer incidence among women increased throughout the study period, but the gradient of the curve was less steep in the 1980s.

#### 8. Conclusions

- The health consequences of passive smoking are well-known, and there is widespread acceptance of and legislation for a ban on smoking in public places. The question therefore remains: why should workplaces, which are also public places, be an exception?
- ETS at workplaces is a real health hazard in the indoor environment. There are no safe levels of exposure, and employers have to provide a safe environment for their employees.
- Governments should be encouraged to classify ETS as a human carcinogen. The Finnish example makes a good case for it.
- In most countries, public opinion in favour of banning smoking at workplaces is substantial and increasing, and there is therefore a need for an opportunity to capitalize on it.
- The recent developments in some countries of the Region put the issue high on the political agenda in Europe, and it is therefore the right time to encourage and support other countries to follow.
- The WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control creates legal environment for action and empowers national legislation.
   The use of other international legislation such as relevant EU directives and ILO conventions is also important and should be encouraged.
- Evidence shows that legislation is the only effective tool for protecting people from tobacco smoke. Legislation should be clear and unambiguous, including the date of entry into force, the responsible authority and penalties, and draw on the experience of successful policies in other countries. Evidence indicates that voluntary agreements are not an effective option.
- A total ban on smoking, without exemptions, is the most preferred option for public heath and seems to be the easiest to enforce.
- A successful smoking ban is possible after proper preparations, consultation through public and political debate, and awarenessraising.
- The clear and documented success of the adoption and implementation of smoke-free legislation in Norway, Ireland, Italy

and some other countries can provide a convincing argument in the political debate.

- Recent studies indicate that smoking bans do not have an adverse economic effect on trade in the hospitality sector. Such studies should be promoted further to make the economic arguments as convincing and widely known as those concerning public health.
- According to the available evidence, ventilation technology is not sufficiently effective at removing the risk of ETS to health, and therefore cannot be recommended as a Europe-wide measure.
- Although the main aim of smoking legislation is to protect nonsmokers, it also reinforces the motivation of smokers to quit and therefore the issue is relevant for both smokers and non-smokers.

#### 9. References

- 1. European Strategy for Tobacco Control. Copenhagen, WHO Regional Office for Europe, 2002.
- WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control. Geneva, World Health Organization, 2003 (http://www.who.int/tobacco/framework/WHO\_FCTC\_english.pdf, accessed 21 March 2006).
- 3. Griffiths J, Grieves K. *Why smoking in the workplace matters: an employer's guide*. Copenhagen, WHO Regional Office for Europe, 2002.
- 4. Griffiths J, Grieves K. *Tobacco in the workplace: meeting the challenges. A handbook for employers.* Copenhagen, WHO Regional Office for Europe, 2002.
- 5. Griffiths J. *The workplace a key setting for reducing the smoking epidemic*. Brussels, European Network for Smoking Prevention, 2003.
- 6. Report on the health effects of environmental tobacco smoke (ETS) in the workplace. Dublin, Health and Safety Authority and Office of Tobacco Control, 2002 (http://www.otc.ie/comm\_pub.asp, accessed 21 March 2006).
- 7. *ILO guidelines on tobacco smoke in the workplace. Draft.* Geneva, International Labour Organization, 2003.
- 8. Håkansta C. Workplace smoking. Working paper: a review of national and local practical and regulatory measures. Geneva, International Labour Organization, 2004.
- 9. Smoke-free policies. Market research and literature review on economic effects on the hospitality sector. Dublin, Office of Tobacco Control, 2004.
- 10. *Towards smoke-free public places*. London, British Medical Association, 2002.
- 11. *Tobacco at work. Guidelines for local authorities*. Health Scotland, ASH Scotland and Convention of Scottish Local Authorities, 2004.

- 12. Tobacco or health in the European Union. Past, present and future. Brussels, European Commission, 2004 (http://www.europa.eu.int/comm/health/ph\_determinants/life\_style/Tobacco/Documents/tobacco fr en.pdf, accessed 21 March 2006).
- 13. Convention concerning Occupational Safety and Health and the Working Environment (C 155). Geneva, International Labour Organization, 1981 (http://www.ilo.org/ilolex/cgilex/convde.pl?C155, accessed 21 March 2006).
- 14. Jamrozik K. Estimate of deaths attributable to passive smoking among UK adults: database analysis. *BMJ*, doi:10.1136/bmj.38370.496632.8F (published 2 March 2005) (http://bmj.bmjjournals.com/cgi/rapidpdf/bmj.38370.496632.8Fv3 accessed 21 March 2006).
- 15. Emont SL, Choi WS, Novotny TE. Clean indoor legislation, taxation and smoking behaviour in the United States: an ecological analysis. *Tobacco Control*, 1993, 2:13–17.
- 16. *Smoke-free workplaces at a glance*. Washington, DC, World Bank, 2002.
- 17. Smoke-free workplaces in Ireland. A one-year review. Dublin, Office of Tobacco Control, 2005.
- 18. *The Big Smoke Debate the results*. BBC survey for London Health Commission, 2004 (http://www.bbc.co.uk/london/insideldn/politics/smoking\_results. shtml, accessed 21 March 2006).
- 19. Public support for international efforts to control tobacco. A survey in five countries. Toronto, Environics Research Group Limited, 2001.
- 20. *Tobacco smoke and involuntary smoking*. Lyon, International Agency for Research on Cancer, 2002 (IARC Monographs on the Evaluation of Carcinogenic Risk to Humans, Vol. 83).
- Respiratory health effects of passive smoking: lung cancer and other disorders. Washington, DC, US Environmental Protection Agency, 1992 (http://www.epa.gov/iaq/ets/images/respiratory\_health\_effects.pdf accessed 21 March 2006).

- 22. Hackshaw AK. Lung cancer and passive smoking. *Statistical Methods in Medical Research*, 1998, 7:119–136.
- 23. Zhong L et al. Exposure to environmental tobacco smoke and the risk of lung cancer: a meta-analysis. *Lung Cancer*, 2000, 27:3–18.
- 24. Lee PN, Forey B, Fry JS. Revisiting the association between environmental tobacco smoke and exposure to lung cancer risk. III. Adjustment for the biasing effect of misclassification of smoking habits, *Indoor and Built Environment*, 2001, 10:384–398.
- 25. Boffetta P. Involuntary smoking and lung cancer. *Scandinavian Journal of Work, Environment & Health*, 2002, 28(Suppl. 2): 30–40.
- 26. Biggerstaff BJ, Tweedie RL, Mengersen KL. Passive smoking in the workplace: classical and Bayesian meta-analysis. *International Archives of Occupational and Environmental Health*, 1994, 66:269–277.
- 27. Wells AJ. Lung cancer from passive smoking at work. *American Journal of Public Health*, 1998, 88:1025–1029.
- 28. Law MR, Morris JK, Wald NJ. Environmental tobacco smoke exposure and ischaemic heart disease: an evaluation of the evidence. *BMJ*, 1997, 315:973–980.
- 29. He J et al. Passive smoking and the risk of coronary heart disease a meta-analysis of epidemiologic studies. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 1999, 340:920–926.
- 30. Glantz SA, Parmley WW. Passive smoking and heart disease. Epidemiology, physiology, and biochemistry. *Circulation*, 1991, 83:1–12.
- 31. Glantz SA, Parmley WW. Passive smoking and heart disease. Mechanisms and risk. *JAMA*, 1995, 273:1047–1053.
- 32. Smoke free workplaces: improving the health and well-being of people at work. European Status Report 2001. Brussels, European Network for Smoking Prevention, 2001 (http://www.ensp.org/files/ACF3526.doc, accessed 21 March 2006).

- 33. The health consequences of smoking: chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. A report of the Surgeon General. Washington, DC, Department of Health and Human Services, 1984 (DHHS Publication No. 84-50205).
- 34. Wanner A. State of the art: clinical aspects of mucociliary transport. *American Review of Respiratory Diseases*, 1977, 116:73–125.
- 35. Lam TH et al. Environmental tobacco smoke exposure among police officers in Hong Kong. *JAMA*, 2000, 284:756–763.
- 36. Windham GC, Eaton A, Hopkins B. Evidence for an association between environmental tobacco smoke exposure and birthweight: a meta-analysis and new data. *Paediatric and Perinatal Epidemiology*, 1999, 13:35–57.
- 37. Lok P, Burrows M. *The cost of smoking in the workplace. Report of the Conference Board of Canada*. Ottawa, Health Canada, 1997.
- 38. Parrot S, Godfrey C, Raw M. Costs of employee smoking in the workplace in Scotland. *Tobacco Control*, 2000, 9:187–192.
- 39. Scollo M et al. Review of the quality of studies on the economic effects of smoke-free policies on the hospitality industry. *Tobacco Control*, 2003, 12:13–20
- 40. Huang P, De AK, McCusker ME. Impact of a smoking ban on restaurants and bar revenues El Paso, Texas, 2002. *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*, 2004, 53:150–152.
- 41. *The state of smoke-free New York City: a one year review.* New York, New York City, 2004.
- 42. *The European report on tobacco control policy*. Copenhagen, WHO Regional Office for Europe, 2002 (document EUR/01/5020906/8) (http://www.euro.who.int/document/tob/tobconf2002/edoc8.pdf, accessed 21 March 2006).
- 43. Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties. New York, United Nations, 1969:331 (Treaty Series, Vol. 1155).

- 44. Council Directive 89/391/EEC of 12 June 1989 on the introduction of measures to encourage improvements in the safety and health of workers at work. *Official Journal of the European Communities*, 1989, L 183:0001–0008.
- 45. Council Directive 92/85/EEC of 19 October 1992 on the introduction of measures to encourage improvements in the safety and health at work of pregnant workers and workers who have recently given birth or are breastfeeding. *Official Journal of the European Communities*, 1992, L 348:1.
- 46. Council Recommendation of 2 December 2002 on the prevention of smoking and on initiatives to improve tobacco control. *Official Journal of the European Communities*, 2002, L 022:31.
- 47. Convention concerning the Protection of Workers against Occupational Hazards in the Working Environment due to Air Pollution, Noise and Vibration (C 148). Geneva, International Labour Organization, 1981 (http://www.ilo.org/ilolex/cgilex/convde.pl?C148, accessed 21 March 2006).
- 48. Convention concerning Prevention and Control of Occupational Hazards caused by Carcinogenic Substances and Agents (C 139). Geneva, International Labour Organization, 1981 (http://www.ilo.org/ilolex/cgi-lex/convde.pl?C139, accessed 21 March 2006).
- 49. Act on Measures for the Reduction of Tobacco Smoking (Statute No. 693/1976). Helsinki, Government of Finland, 1976 (http://www.globalink.org/tobacco/docs/eudocs/legislation/finland/0003finland.shtml, accessed 21 March 2006).
- 50. *Tobacco control legislation: an introductory guide*, 2nd ed. Geneva, World Health Organization, 2003 (http://www.who.int/tobacco/research/legislation/tobacco\_cont\_leg/en/index.html, Accessed 21 March 2006).
- 51. Heloma A et al. The short-term impact of national smoke-free workplace legislation on passive smoking and tobacco use. *American Journal of Public Health*, 2001, 91:1416–1418.
- 52. *Choosing health: making healthier choices easier.* London, Department of Health, 2004.

- 53. Smoke-free world: doctors' notes on clean air laws. London, British Medical Association, 2005 (http://www.kup.no/asset/24948/2/24948\_2.pdf?PHPSESSID=319 7b109ebfaf083add160587917b9f0, accessed 21 March 2006).
- 54. *Smoking in public places. An evidence report*. Edinburgh, Scottish Executive Social Research, 2004.
- 55. McKee M, Hogan H, Gilmore A. Why we need to ban smoking in public places now. *Journal of Public Health Medicine*, 2004, 26:325–326.
- 56. Welcome to giving up smoking [web site]. London, National Health Service (http://www.givingupsmoking.co.uk, accessed 21 March 2006).
- 57. Hopkins DP et al. Reviews of evidence regarding interventions to reduce tobacco use and exposure to environmental tobacco smoke. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 2001, 20(Suppl. 2): 16–66.
- 58. Repace J. An air quality survey of respirable particles and particulate carcinogens in Boston pubs before and after a smoking ban. Bowie, MD, Repace Associates Inc., 2003.
- 59. Fichtenberg C, Glantz S. Effect of smoke-free workplaces on smoking behaviour: systematic review. *BMJ*, 2002, 325:188–191.
- 60. Workplace restrictions on smoking: are they good for smokers too? Ontario, Ontario Tobacco Research Unit, 2004.
- 61. Lund M et al. *Smoke-free bars and restaurants in Norway*. Oslo, SIRUS, 2005 (http://www.ensp.org/files/SmokefreebarsandrestaurantsinNorway .pdf, accessed 21 March 2006).
- 62. Gottlieb S. New York's war on tobacco produces record fall in smoking. *BMJ*, 2004, 328:1222.
- 63. The health consequences of involuntary smoking. A report of the Surgeon General. Washington, DC, Department of Health and Human Services, 1986.
- 64. Heloma A et al. Smoking and exposure to tobacco smoke at medium-sized and large scale-workplaces. *American Journal of Industrial Medicine*, 2000, 37:214–220.

- 65. Kauppinen TP, Virtanen SV. Exposure to environmental tobacco smoke in Finland. *Scandinavian Journal of Work, Environment & Health*, 2002, 28(Suppl. 2):7–15.
- 66. Reijula K. [*The impact of Finnish tobacco legislation concerning restaurants*]. (In Finnish with English abstract). Helsinki, Ministry of Social Affairs and Health, 2005.
- 67. Johnsson T et al. Occupational exposure of non-smoking restaurant personnel to environmental tobacco smoke in Finland. *American Journal of Industrial Medicine*, 2003, 43:523–531.
- 68. Heloma A et al. Smoking prevalence, smoking related lung diseases and national tobacco control legislation. *Chest*, 2004, 126:1825–1831.